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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

SIGNIFICANCE: The J. W. Robinson Department Store building (1958) was
designed by the Los Angeles-based architectural firm of Charles Luckman
Associates and William L. Pereira. The commercial building exhibits humerous
stylistic markers that place it directly in the historic context of Palm Springs’
modern period. Additionally, the building is a largely intact example of the
significant modernist architecture for which Palm Springs is internationally known.
As such, it should be viewed as an important component of the historic trends that
have come to define Palm Springs’ image as a center of important midcentury
architecture (i.e., an historic trend that exemplifies “a particular period of the
national, state or local history”).

DESIGNATION CRITERIA: The J. W. Robinson Department Store building has not
been previously evaluated for Class 1 Historic Site eligibility but over the years has
been frequently included on the Historic Site Preservation Board’'s (HSPB) “work
program.” The Robinson’s building was not included in the 1987 HSPB Survey
(possibly viewed as “too new”) but does appear in the 2004 Citywide Historic
Resources Survey (which incorrectly identifies the construction date as 1953). A
brief summary of the evaluation contained in this nomination is as follows:

8.05.020 (a) paragraph 1 - Events: This criterion recognizes properties
associated with events or patterns of events or historic trends. In this nomination,
the applicable “pattern of events” would be the gradual rise of Palm Springs’
prominence in midcentury architectural excellence. The J. W. Robinson
Department Store building is an outstanding example of commercial design
and construction of buildings within the context of midcentury desert
modernism. The nominated building is associated with this pattern of events
for its ability to exemplify the modern period of the national, state and local
history. The J. W. Robinson Department Store building is associated with this
pattern of events, and is associated as well with Criterion 3 for its ability to
exemplify a particular period of the national, state or local history. Therefore, the
building qualifies for listing as a Class 1 Historic Site under Criterion 1.

8.05.020 (a) paragraphs 3, 4 & 5 - Design/Construction: The building is eligible
under the theme of Modern architecture because it possesses numerous
distinctive characteristics that make up modernist style, including a flat roof,
clerestory windows, expansive amounts of glass, novel use of new materials and
engineering techniques, idiosyncratic use of concrete masonry, etc. Additionally,
the work of the award-winning and nationally-recognized architectural firm of
Luckman & Pereira must be catalogued as the work of “Master” architects because
of the firm's impressive record of architectural excellence. For its distinctive
characteristics, as the work of a Master, and for its high artistic values, the building
qualifies as a Class 1 Historic Site under Criteria 3,4 & 5.

SUMMARY: The evaluation contained herein finds the building eligible for listing as
a Palm Springs Class 1 Historic Site under 8.05.020 (a) paragraphs 1, 3, 4 & 5 of
the local ordinance’s seven criteria. Additionally, the building was found to retain a
high degree of architectural integrity.
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CITY OF PALM SPRINGS

Department of

Planning Services
3200 East Tahquitz Canyon Way, Palm
Springs, CA 92262
Telephone: 760-323-8245 ~ Fax: 760-322-
8360

HISTORIC SITE DESIGNATION

The City of Palm Springs allows for the local designation of historic buildings, sites or
districts within the City (Section 8.05 of the Palm Springs Municipal Code.)  This
application packet is to be completed in order to request a historic designation. For
additional information, please contact the Department of Planning Services at 760-323-
8245 or planning@palmspringsca.gov.

APPLICATION

The completed application and required materials may be submitted to the
Department of Planning Services. The submittal will be given a cursory check and will
be accepted for filing only if the basic requirements have been met. A case planner will
be assigned to the project and will be responsible for a detailed review of the
application and all exhibits to ensure that all required information is adequate
and accurate. Incomplete applications due to missing or inadequate information will not
be accepted for filing. Applicants may be asked to attend scheduled meetings pertaining
to their project. These will include the Historic Site Preservation Board (HSPB) and the
City Council.

HISTORIC SITE PRESERVATION BOARD (HSPB)

Once the application has been determined to be complete, the HSPB will review the
application to determine whether the site meets the minimum qualifications for
designation pursuant to Chapter 8.05 of the Palm Springs Municipal Code. If such
determination is made, a public hearing will be scheduled for a future meeting.

A public hearing will be held by the HSPB to receive testimony from all interested
persons concerning the Historic Site Designation. The public hearing may be
continued from time to time, and upon complete consideration, the HSPB will make a
recommendation to the City Council. Notice will be provided as indicated below.

CITY COUNCIL

After receiving the recommendation of the Historic Site Preservation Board, a public
hearing will be held by the City Council to receive testimony from all interested
persons concerning the requested Historic Site Designation. The public hearing may be
continued from time to time, and upon complete consideration, the City Council will
then conditionally approve, deny, or approve the application as submitted. The City
Council's decision on the application is final.

NOTIFICATION

Prior to consideration of the application by the HSPB and the City Council, a notice of
public hearing for a Historic Site Designation request will be mailed to all property
owners within 400 feet of the subject property a minimum of ten (10) days prior to the
hearing dates.
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Office Use Only

Date:

Case No.

HSPB No.

Planner:

CITY OF PALM SPRINGS
Department of Planning Services

HISTORIC SITE DESIGNATION APPLICATION

TO THE APPLICANT:

Your cooperation in completing this application and supplying the information requested will expedite
City review of your application. Application submitted will not be considered until all submittal
requirements are met. Staff may require additional information depending upon the specific project.
Please submit this completed application and any subsequent material to the Department of Planning
Services.

This form is to be used to nominate individual properties for Class 1 or 2 historic designations, or to
nominate the formation of historic districts. Applicants are encouraged to review two bulletins from the
US Department of Interior for additional information:

e “How to Complete the National Register of Historic Places Registration Form”
(National Register Bulletin 16A /
http://www.nps.gov/history/nr/publications/bulletins/nrb16a/); and

e “How to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation” (National Register Bulletin 15;
http://www.nps.gov/history/nr/publications/bulletins/nrb15/).

Complete each item by marking "x" in the appropriate box or by entering the information requested. If
any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not applicable." For
functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and
subcategories from the instructions in the Bulletins.

1. Property Information

Historic name: J. W. Robinson Department Store Building (aka Robinson’s Specialty Shop)
Other names: La Mirage Interiors, Crown Books, The Alley

Address: 333-343 South Palm Canyon Drive

Assessor Parcel Number: 513 203 013 - 8

Owner’'s Name: Marek Family, LLP (Mr. William Marek)

Owner’s Address: 72-240 Highway 111

City: Palm Desert State: CA Zip: 92260

Telephone: (760) 347-7200

E-mail address: none
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2. Classifications

Ownership of Property. Fill as many boxes as apply.

m Private

o Public - Local

o Public - State

o Public - Federal

Category of Property. Fill only one box.
m Building (Note can include site)

o District

o Site (Exclusive of Structures)
o Structure

o Object

Number of Resources within Property. TOTAL mustinclude at least One (1) in Contributing Column.

Contributing  Non-contributing

1 Buildings

1 Sites
Structures
Objects

2 Total

If the building or site is part of a larger group of properties, enter the name of the multiple-property
group; otherwise enter "N/A".
HN/A"

3. Use or Function

Historic Use or Function: Commercial Building
Current Use or Function: Commercial Building

4. Description

Architect: Charles Luckman Associates and William L. Pereira (aka “Luckman & Pereira”)
Construction Date and Source: 1957-58 (Multiple sources, including Appendix I, Permit History)
Architectural Classification: International Style - Desert Regional Variation
Construction Materials:
Foundation Concrete slab Roof Tar and Gravel/Metal
Walls Concrete block Other:

Building Description: Attach a description of the Building / Site / District, including all character
defining features on one or more additional sheets. (See pages 9-11)
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5. Criteria (Fill all boxes that apply for the criteria qualifying the property for listing.)

Events

M (1) Fill this box if the property is associated with events that have made a significant
contribution to the broad patterns of our history.

Persons

L1 (2) Fill this box if the property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our
past.

Architecture

B (3) Fill this box if the property reflects or exemplifies a particular period of national, State
or local history, or

B (4) Fill this box if the property e mbodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period,
or method of construction, or

B (5) Fill this box if the property represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic
values, or

1 (6) Fill this box if the property represents a significant and distinguishable entity
whose components lack individual distinction.

Archeology

I (7) Fill this box if the property has yielded, or is likely to yield information important in
prehistory or history.

Other Criteria Considerations (Check all the boxes that apply.)

1 the property is owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes
the property has been removed from its original location.

the property is a birthplace

the property is a reconstructed building, object, or structure

(]
(]
1 the property is a grave or cemetery.
(]
[ the property is commemorative

|

the property is less than 50 years of age or has achieved significance within the past 50
years (Note: Primary structure more than 50 years of age, however portions are
less than 50 years of age)
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6. Statement of Significance

The Client

The J. W. Robinson Company, or “Robinson's,” was a chain of department stores
operating in southern California and Arizona headquartered in Los Angeles, California.
The first Robinson’s store was built at 600 West 7™ Street in Los Angeles (see Figure 1,
Appendix VI for a vintage postcard of the first Robinson’s store). The second
Robinson's store was opened in Beverly Hills in 1952 on Wilshire Boulevard at Santa
Monica Boulevard next to the Beverly Hilton Hotel (1953).

The relatively small Palm Springs Robinson’s (1958) (which, interestingly, was
preceded by a small boutique Robinson’s store on the grounds of the Desert Inn) was
intended to be an “open in winter only" store. A Robinson’s on Colorado Boulevard in
Pasadena followed. The Pasadena Robinson’s was significant because it appears to
have been the last “free-standing” store as the commercial concept of the shopping mall
had begun to take root. The first stores adjacent or connected to shopping malls
opened in Panorama City, Anaheim, Santa Barbara and Glendale. By the time J.W.
Robinson's was dissolved into Robinson's-May there were almost 30 stores spread all
across southern California from San Diego to Palm Desert to Santa Barbara.

Designed to serve the “carriage-trade,” J. W. Robinson's was acquired by May
Department Stores in 1986 with its acquisition of Associated Dry Goods (ADG).
Robinson's had been acquired by ADG in 1957 as its West Coast flagship and operated
primarily in southern California. In 1989, when May Company dissolved its Goldwaters
division based in Scottsdale, Arizona, Robinson's took over the company’s metropolitan
Phoenix stores. The combined chain became Robinsons-May.

{Author’s note: Unfortunately there are few primary sources of information concerning the J. W. Robinson
Company and the foregoing section relies on secondary sources}

The Firm

Charles Luckman and William Pereira had both been students of architecture at the
University of lllinois. In 1950, shortly after Luckman left his job as president of Lever
Brothers, Pereira offered him a partnership. By 1955, the firm had 400 employees and
more than $500 million in projects in progress, including the NASA Space Facility at
Cape Canaveral, the Los Angeles International Airport master plan and the CBS
Television City Studio. However, despite this incredible success, their completely
different personalities and work approaches eventually resulted in the firm’s dissolution
in 1958.

In a September 6, 1963 Time magazine article, Pereira was asked about the break-up
of the architectural partnership of Luckman & Pereira. Time magazine reported that:

“...eight years after the partnership began, Bill Pereira abruptly broke it up. Given the

differences between the two, it is surprising that the association lasted as long as it did.
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Though trained as an architect, Luckman was a slick businessman with a flair for
supersalesmanship; to Pereira, on the other hand, architecture was simply a profession.
“The businessman who hires us,” he once said, “doesn’t need another businessman to
do the work — he needs an architect.” Pereira [said] after he left the firm: “It was like
working in a factory. Everybody was standing in line with projects for us to do, like a line
of railroad cars waiting to unload.”

Yet despite Pereira’s somewhat disconsolate view of the firm’s working environment,
Luckman & Pereira produced an extraordinary variety and high-quality of work during its
eight years of existence (1950-1958) as evidenced by the numerous projects that
received recognition in the national architectural press.

The April 1957 issue of Architect & Engineer magazine identifies Luckman & Pereira
firm vice-president Max R. Horowitz as having participated in the design and planning of
the J.W. Robinson Department Stores in Beverly Hills and Palm Springs.

The Architecture & Building Description

Constructed from 1957-1958 at a cost of $280,000 on land purchased from Palm
Springs pioneer Pearl McManus, the J.W. Robinson Department Store building was
designed by the Los Angeles-based architectural firm of Charles Luckman Associates
and William L. Pereira. Sited on a 1.94 acre lot in the shadow of the San Jacinto
Mountains, the concrete slab construction building consists of 14,500 square feet of
retail, office and receiving space (this was supplemented in 1972 with a 13,400 square
foot addition). Located on the southwest corner of South Palm Canyon Drive and West
Baristo Avenue, the pavilion-style modernist building is dramatically elevated from the
street level by four long horizontal concrete steps that create both a sense of arrival and
impart a sense importance to the building.

One of the most prominent design elements of the building is the glassed-in, well-lighted
facade on the east side of the building which acts as a giant display window. This
design element lures automobile drivers off the main city thoroughfare into the large
hidden parking lot located on the west side of the building site. This siting scheme
recognized that the pedestrian and automobile-borne shopper were equally important.

In an article entitled “Bazaar in an Oasis,” the March 1958 issue of Architectural Forum
described the Robinson’s building in enthusiastic detail:

Built on a concrete platform at a busy center in Palm Springs, California, the branch of
the JW. Robinson Company, a West Coast specialty shop, has a two-way policy of
visibility. Glass front walls, sheltered by deep overhangs, make the entire interior a
showroom...enticing the motorist to park and come in. Once he is inside, in the center of
the store, a 3-foot-deep clerestory perched on the roof gives him back his view of the
mountains, in whose lap Palm Springs sits. The psychology is deliberate. Robinson’s
wanted to become a part of the sophisticated resort reputation of this famous watering
spot, to catch the excitement in the air.

The design methods, besides providing great inward and outward visibility, include a
feeling of lightness. The roof is a series of light steel trusses linked in a serrated pattern,
and set on lean pipe columns....Nowhere does this roof rest on walls, even at the solid
masonry rear of the store....The walls are faced with a special tile of marble and quartz
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aggregate, patterned in a horizontal diamond to repeat the rhythm of the gold anodized
aluminum fascia.

Inside, shopping arrangements are on the open plan. The air conditioning does not use
conventional diffusers; tempered air is filtered into the store through small adjustable
slots in the acoustical tile ceiling...which acts as a plenum.

The “Bazaar in an Oasis” article was part of a special Forum installment entitled “Six
stores of distinction: Outstanding examples of new design trends in display and
merchandising” which showcased a variety of significant commercial projects. The
article also identified Raymond Loewy Associates as designer of the store’s interiors
and Robinson & Wilson, Inc. as the general contractor.

Not mentioned in the Forum description is that the clerestory windows in the center of
the building not only provide a “view of the mountains” but take advantage of the reliably
sunny Palm Springs weather to provide bright daytime lighting to the main selling area
(thereby saving on the costs of electrical lighting).

The broad overhangs of the building’s roof are supported with load-bearing 4-inch steel
pipe columns spaced at 9-foot intervals. These pipe columns each have four “fins” or
“ribs” which sprout from each column at 90-degree angles starting about at about 6.5-
inches above the concrete sidewalk. These fins protrude about 2-inches near the
ground subtlety increasing to about 4-inches of width at an elevation of about 10-feet
(only to thin again as the top of the column nears the building’s overhang).

The underside of the building overhang is punctuated with cylindrical spun-aluminum
lighting fixtures also spaced at 9-foot intervals (originally, the silver cylindrical lighting
fixtures counterpoised nicely with the gold anodized aluminum fascia which is now,
unfortunately, painted over).

Additionally, the building changes character as the sun grazes the applied three-
dimensional horizontal diamond, or “harlequin,” design 12"x12"x1” concrete decorative
tile, creating interesting shadows throughout the day (and on what would otherwise be
the less interesting concrete block walls of the building). The original Robinson’s store
sign (now lost) echoed the diamond-like design of both the concrete tiles and the
aluminum fascia. Also not mentioned in the Forum description was the extensive use of
12"x12"x12” single-core concrete block on the exterior walls (most notably on the south
elevation). The block creates a grid-like pattern that compliments, rather than competes
with, the patterned concrete tile.

The building’s patterned concrete tile, identified as “special tile of marble and quartz
aggregate” in the Forum description, was part of the building industry’s foray into the
use of concrete block in more decorative expressions. The late 1950s and early 1960s
saw an explosion in the use of decorative concrete block which was to take two major
directions, i.e., one in the form of solid, load-bearing “Shadowal” concrete blocks and
the second as airy, perforated, non-load bearing, concrete “screen block.” Today, both
of these building materials can be found throughout Palm Springs in a profusion of
patterns. The use of an expensive, aggregate-imbedded tile (versus an integrally
decorative concrete block such as Shadowal) is an accurate snap-shot of an evolving
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building material which would ultimately become inexpensive, rugged and modular (and
also eventually shed such affectations as expensive marble and quartz chips).

In 1972, in response to an apparent need for more retail space, an addition was
constructed, connecting to the south end of the original building. Stylistically identical to
the original Luckman & Pereira structure, records show the addition was supervised by
architect William L. Pereira (who was then practicing independently). The seamless
addition uses similar building materials, repeats the central clerestory windows and is
virtually indistinguishable from the original building.

“The Award”

In the summer of 1958, the July issue of The Journal of the American Institute of
Architects announced 1958’s “National Honor Awards” in the field of architecture. This
prestigious awards competition was juried by five nationally-prominent architects
(including Los Angeles architect Welton Beckett). There were 312 entries in the
competition which, according to the judges, evaluated entries based on “quality of unity
in the entire work,” “expression of strength without heaviness,” “refinement,” “aesthetic
quality,” and finally “originality and inventiveness.” The “First Honor Award” went to the
J.W. Robinson Department Store building (Palm Springs) designed by Luckman &
Pereira (the second award went to another California project, Edward Durrell Stone’s
Stuart Pharmaceutical Company in Pasadena).

This national award is perhaps the most prestigious architectural award ever received
by any Palm Springs project, commercial or residential, at the time of its construction.

The J.W. Robinson Department Store building also received the 1960 Triennial Honor
Award from the American Institute of Architects Southern California Chapter.

The Local Impact of the “Fashion Jewel Box of the Desert”

The February 1958 issue of Palm Springs Villager magazine published an article
entitled “Desert Fashion Center” which reported the arrival of the new J.W. Robinson
Department Store to the city. Interviews with those involved with the project shows that
cutting-edge architecture was a deliberate and integral part of the store’s selling
strategy. In the Villager article it was conveyed that:

The opening of the new J.W. Robinson, one of the top fashion stores of the West Coast,
emphasizes anew the importance of Palm Springs as a desert fashion center.

“Palm Springs is in the process of fulfilling a brilliant destiny”...said Robinson’s president,
Donald Buckingham. “Opening a beautiful new store two and one-half times larger than
the old...we are showing our confidence and faith in the future of Palm Springs.”

At a cost of a million dollars, the new Robinson’s is as ultra-modern in architectural
design as is its fashionable content. A special feature is the extensive use of glass
across the front, carried to the sides and roof, which gives the entire store the
appearance of a huge display window, above which is an umbrella-type of roof [which]
seems to float as if on air.
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“Our primary aim is to make Robinson’s Palm Springs store the fashion headquarters for
the entire desert region,” said Pierre Bouscaren, its manager, “to be always first with the
newest and most authentic in fashions for all who live in or who visit this area — men,
women and children.”

(The “old” store was the modest Robinson’s store on the grounds of the Desert Inn).
The 1958 opening of the Palm Springs J.W. Robinson Department Store (sometimes

referred to as “JWR Palm Springs”) was attended by throngs of local residents and at
least one celebrity (pianist Wladziu (or Vtadziu) Valentino Liberace).
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Site plan and section from the March 1959 issue of Architectural Forum
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HISTORIC CONTEXT

To qualify as a Palm Springs Class 1 Historic Site, a property must be significant; that
is, it must represent a significant part of the history, architecture, or archeology, of an
area, and it must have the characteristics that make it a good representative of
properties associated with that aspect of the past. The significance of an historic
property can be properly understood when it is evaluated within its historic context.
Historic contexts are those patterns or trends in history by which a specific site is
understood and its meaning (and ultimately its significance) within history is made
clear. In order to decide whether a property is significant within its historic context, it
must be determined which facet of history the property represents; the significance of
that facet of history; whether the subject property has relevance in illustrating the
historic context; how the property illustrates that history; and an analysis of the physical
features the property possesses to determine if it conveys the aspect or history with
which it is associated. If the subject property represents an important aspect of the
area's history (under any of the seven criteria recognized by the Municipal Code) and
possesses the requisite quality of integrity, it then qualifies as a Class 1 Historic Site.

BACKGROUND / HISTORIC CONTEXT

The relatively short history of Palm Springs can be organized into three more or less
distinct periods that include Prehistory, the Settlement Period, and the Modern Period.
It is within the context of the last period that this building will be evaluated.

Modern Period (1925-1960s): This period can be considered to have begun with the
construction of the area’s first “modern” structure, Rudolph Schindler's Paul and Betty
Popenoe Cabin in 1922. With this building, the area’s then predominant architectural
style based on Mexican and Spanish Colonial motifs already well-established in
Southern California began to change. Incorporation of the town of Palm Springs
followed in 1938. During the post-WWII era, Palm Springs’ economy prospered through
tourism. Hollywood celebrities discovered the desert oasis and patronized its hotels,
inns, nightclubs and restaurants; celebrity-seeking tourists soon followed, transforming
Palm Springs from a sleepy village into an increasingly cosmopolitan environment that
saw the construction of schools, hospitals, an airport and other important public works
projects. The commercial core along Palm Canyon Drive (originally Main Street)
flourished. In the 1950s the downtown core was expanded by the construction of the
cross-axis of Tahquitz-McCallum Way that extended from the center of the original
settlement to the airport, spurring new development along the way. Early private
residential development also expanded into new sub-divisions composed of midcentury
modern second homes in the flat lands surrounding the town'’s original core.

Palm Springs’ Hollywood associations certainly imparted an air of sophistication to the
city. This was an association the J.W. Robinson department store chain wanted to be
part of. Additionally, by 1958, the city had built a reputation for cutting edge architecture
as a result of local architectural practitioners like John Porter Clark, Albert Frey, E.
Stewart Williams, William F. Cody and Donald Wexler. While these local names
permeate the town’s collective consciousness, there are many “outside” architects who
made significant contributions to the city’s stock of great midcentury architecture.
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Certainly Luckman & Pereira, along with architect Rudi Baumfeld of Victor Gruen
Associates (Bank of America Building) and Richard Neutra (Kaufmann House) must be
numbered among these outsiders.

Within a narrower commercial retail context, other department store chains employed
well-known architectural firms to design major buildings in post-war Palm Springs.
These include the now demolished Bullock’'s Department Store (1947, Walter
Wurdeman and Welton Becket) and Saks Fifth Avenue Department Store (1960, Welton
Becket and Associates).

EVALUATION:
Criterion 1: Significant Event (Completed because Criterion 1 is marked above)

To qualify for listing under this criterion, a property must be associated with one or
more events important in the defined historic context. Criterion 1 recognizes
properties associated with events or patterns of events or historic trends, such as the
gradual rise of the city's prominence in architectural excellence in midcentury modern
architecture that is an important pattern of events within this associated context. The
J.W. Robinson Department Store building is an outstanding example of
commercial design and construction of buildings within the context of midcentury
desert Modernism. The J.W. Robinson Department Store commercial building is
associated with this pattern of events for its ability to exemplify the modern period
of the national, state and local history. Therefore, the building qualifies for listing as a
Class 1 Historic Site under Criterion 1.

ARCHITECTURE (Criteria 3 — 6)

Criterion 3: (That reflects or exemplifies a particular period of the national, state or local
history.)

The J.W. Robinson Department Store commercial building (1958) was designed by the
Los Angeles-based architectural firm of Luckman & Pereira. The building’'s stylistic
markers place it directly in the historic context of Palm Springs’ Modern Period. One of
the city’s better-known commercial buildings, the structure is a prime, largely intact
example of the significant modernist architecture for which Palm Springs is widely
known. As such it may be viewed as an important component of the historic trends that
have come to define Palm Springs’ image as a center of important midcentury
architecture, i.e., an historic trend that exemplifies a particular period of the national,
state or local history. The building qualifies for listing as a Class 1 Historic Site on the
local reqistry under Criterion 3.

Criterion 4: (That embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period or method of
construction; or) Type, Period, and Method of Construction: "Type, period, or method of
construction” refers to the way certain properties are related to one another by cultural
tradition or function, by dates of construction or style, or by choice or availability of
materials and technology. To be eligible under this Criterion, a property must clearly
illustrate, through "distinctive characteristics” a pattern of features common to a
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particular class of resources. "Distinctive characteristics" are the physical features or
traits that commonly recur in individual types, periods, or methods of construction. To be
eligible, a property must clearly contain enough of those characteristics to be
considered a true representative of a particular type, period, or method of construction.
Characteristics can be expressed in terms such as form, proportion, structure, plan,
style, or materials.

The building is eligible under the theme of Modern architecture because it possesses
distinctive characteristics that make up the many qualities of the style, such as overall
horizontality, expression of structure, flat roofs, expansive amounts of glass, use of
inexpensive, machine produced materials, masonry, etc. The structure is eligible as a
specimen of its type or period of construction because it is an important example (within
its context) of building practices in Palm Springs at midcentury. The building qualifies as
a Class 1 Historic Site on the local registry under Criterion 4.

Criterion 5: (That (a): represents the work of a master builder, designer, artist, or
architect whose individual genius influenced his age; or (b): that possesses high artistic

value).

5a: Work of a Master: A master is a figure of generally recognized greatness in a field,
a known craftsman of consummate skill. The property must express a particular phase
in the development of the master's career, an aspect of his work, or a particular idea or
theme in his craft. A property is not eligible as the work of a master, however, simply
because it was designed by a prominent architect. For example, not every building
designed by Frank Lloyd Wright is eligible under this portion of Criterion 5, although it
might meet other Criteria.

Both Charles Luckman and William Pereira are important as nationally-prominent
practitioners of Modernist architecture. Short biographies of Luckman and Pereira can
be found in Appendices IIl and IV respectively. The firm of Luckman & Pereira has long
been recognized as a leading firm of the modernist movement and documentation on
the firm is extensive. Further, the J.W. Robinson Department Store building was
immediately recognized by the architectural press and peers in the profession as an
extraordinary effort that combined a sense of proportion, massing, refinement and use
of modern materials and technology. In short, the Robinson Department Store building
exemplifies all of the stylistic markers of the maturing modernist movement in the late
1950s.

5b: Properties possessing high artistic values: High artistic values may be
expressed in many ways, including areas as diverse as community design or planning,
engineering, and sculpture. A property is eligible for its high artistic values if it so fully
articulates a particular concept of design that it expresses an aesthetic ideal. As
mentioned above, as an example of the maturing modernist movement, Luckman &
Pereira’s J.W. Robinson Department Store certainly articulates the best of “corporate
modernism” to a level of excellence and confidence that could easily be considered an
aesthetic ideal. As the work of a Master, and for its high artistic values, the building
gualifies as a Class 1 Historic Site under Criterion 5.
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Criterion 6: (That represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components
may lack individual distinction). This Criterion was created to address the resources
contained within a potential historic district. Since no claim has been brought forward
regarding an historic district in this tract, the building does not qualify as a Class 1
Historic Site under Criterion 6.

ARCHEOLOGY

Criterion 7: (That has yielded or may be likely to yield information important to national,
state or local history or prehistory.) The building does not qualify for listing on the local
registry under Criterion 7.

7. Integrity Analysis

INTEGRITY

This is the ability of a property to convey its significance. To be listed in the local
registry, a property must not only be shown to be significant under the criteria, but it also
must have integrity. The evaluation of integrity is sometimes a subjective judgment, but
it must always be grounded in an understanding of a property's physical features and
how they relate to its significance. Historic properties either retain integrity (that is,
convey their significance) or they do not. The definition of integrity includes seven
aspects or qualities. To retain historic integrity a property will always possess several,
and usually most, of the aspects. The retention of specific aspects of integrity is
paramount for a property to convey its significance. Determining which of these aspects
are most important to a particular property requires knowing why, where, and when the
property is significant. The following sections define the seven aspects and explain how
they combine to produce integrity.

LOCATION

Location is the place where an historic property was constructed or the place where
an historic event occurred. The relationship between the property and its location is
often important to understanding why the property was created or why something
happened. The actual location of a historic property, complemented by its setting, is
particularly important in recapturing the sense of historic events and persons.
Except in rare cases, the relationship between a property and its historic
associations is destroyed if the property is moved. The J.W. Robinson Department
Store building remains in its original location and therefore qualifies under this
aspect.

DESIGN

Design is the combination of elements that create the form, plan, space, structure,
and style of a property. It results from conscious decisions made during the original
conception and planning of a property and applies to activities as diverse as
community planning, engineering, architecture, and landscape architecture. Design
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includes such elements as organization of space, proportion, scale, technology,
ornamentation, and materials. A property’s design reflects historic functions and
technologies as well as aesthetics. It includes such considerations as the structural
system; massing; arrangement of spaces; pattern of fenestration; textures and colors
of surface materials; type, amount, and style of ornamental detailing. Although the
J.W. Robinson Department Store building has seen some minor alterations,
the essential characteristics of form, plan, space, structure, and style have
survived intact. Similarly, the structural system; massing; arrangement of
spaces; pattern of fenestration; and the type, amount, and style of detailing,
has survived as well. The exterior surface materials (concrete block and metal
fascia) have been painted but this is a relatively insignificant and reversible
change. As previously mentioned, one of the primary design elements of the
building is the elevation of the structure above the street level by four, long
horizontal steps that create both a sense of arrival and impart a sense of
importance to the building. Over the years bulky concrete planters have been
installed to create a separation from the bus transportation activities on the
east side of the site. Arguably, this has somewhat diminished the drama of
entering the building. Fortunately, these changes (specifically the planters)
could be removed or mitigated to more closely echo the original design.
Fortunately, there is extensive documentation in the form of plans and
photographs (including many taken by architectural photographer Julius
Shulman) that clearly illustrate the original design intent of the architects.

SETTING

Setting is the physical environment of a historic property. Whereas location refers to
the specific place where a property was built or an event occurred, setting refers to
the character of the place in which the property played its historical role. It involves
how, not just where, the property is situated and its relationship to surrounding
features and open space. Setting often reflects the basic physical conditions under
which a property was built and the functions it was intended to serve. In addition, the
way in which a property is positioned in its environment can reflect the designer’s
concept of nature and aesthetic preferences. The setting of the J.W. Robinson
Department Store building continues to reflect the architects’ original design
relationship of site and structure.

MATERIALS

Materials are the physical elements that were combined or deposited during a
particular period of time and in a particular pattern or configuration to form a historic
property. The choice and combination of materials reveals the preferences of those
who created the property and indicate the availability of particular types of materials
and technologies. As mentioned previously, the J.W. Robinson Department
Store building’s exterior surface materials have been painted, but this change
does not constitute a significant loss of the physical elements that expressed
the design during the building’s period of significance; the particular pattern
and configuration that today forms the building survives intact.
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WORKMANSHIP

Workmanship is the physical evidence of the crafts of a particular culture or people
during any given period in history or prehistory. It is the evidence of artisans’ labor
and skill in constructing or altering a building, structure, object, or site. Workmanship
can apply to the property as a whole or to its individual components. It can be
expressed in vernacular methods of construction and plain finishes or in highly
sophisticated configurations and ornamental detailing. It can be based on common
traditions or innovative period techniques. Workmanship is important because it can
furnish evidence of the technology of a craft, illustrate the aesthetic principles of a
historic or prehistoric period, and reveal individual, local, regional, or national
applications of both technological practices and aesthetic principles. Examples of
workmanship in historic buildings include tooling, carving, painting, graining, turning,
and joinery. With the J.W. Robinson Department Store building, the
workmanship is comprised of integral ornamental detailing reflected in
concrete block, glass, steel, and even the exposed structural system itself.
The property continues to express a high degree of contemporary period
workmanship.

FEELING

Feeling is a property’s expression of the aesthetic or historic sense of a particular
period of time. It results from the presence of physical features that, taken together,
convey the property’s historic character. For example, a rural historic district
retaining original design, materials, workmanship, and setting will relate the feeling of
agricultural life in the 19th century. Although the current culture’s concept of
glamour may have changed somewhat, the J.W. Robinson Department Store
building was the very essence of Palm Springs glamour when built. As a
commercial establishment that unapologetically catered to the rich and
aspiring upper middle class, the “feeling” of the building necessarily had to
exude urbanity albeit it in a more informal resort location. The late 1950s were
a sophisticated, open and optimistic time, a feeling still expressed by the
design of this building. As such, the J.W. Robinson Department Store building
retains the integrity of feeling.

ASSOCIATION

Association is the direct link between an important historic event or person and a
historic property. A property retains association if it is the place where the event or
activity occurred and is sufficiently intact to convey that relationship to an observer.
Like feeling, association requires the presence of physical features that convey a
property’s historic character. For example, a Revolutionary War battlefield whose
natural and man-made elements have remained intact since the 18th century will
retain its quality of association with the battle. Because feeling and association
depend on individual perceptions, their retention alone is never sufficient to support
eligibility of a property for the National Register. As stated under Criterion 1: the
J.W. Robinson Department Store building is an important example of
midcentury commercial development in Palm Springs. The building
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represents the city’s overall commercial development from the 1950s to the
1960s, and contributes to the scale and character of the city’s midcentury
commercial “banking district.” As such, it continues its association with a
pattern of events that have made a meaningful contribution to the community;
the building retains integrity of association.

Integrity Summary: The building appears to be in excellent condition due
largely to the use of construction materials suitable for the harsh desert
environment. The Integrity analysis confirms that the building still possesses
all seven aspects of integrity. And while the building has undergone some
minor alterations since it was built, virtually all of its character-defining
features survive. The building retains a high degree of integrity sufficient to
gualify it for listing as a Class 1 Historic Site.
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entitled “Bazaar in an Oasis”).

Journal of the American Institute of Architects, Volume 30, No. 1, July 1958, pages 29-
31, “The 1958 National Honor Awards.”

Palm Springs Villager, February 1958, p. 33, “Desert Fashion Center”
Western Architect and Engineer, November 1960

Other Sources Consulted:

Palm Springs Assessor’s Office
Palm Springs Historical Society
Palm Springs Public Library

City of Palm Springs Planning Department (HSPB files)

9. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property: 1.94 acres (or approximately 84,506 sq. ft.).
Property Boundary Description: The boundary includes all of APN 513203013-8.

10. Prepared By

Nameltitle: Ronald W. Marshall

Organization: N/A (submitted on behalf of the Palm Springs Preservation Foundation)
Street address: 2685 East Livmor Avenue

City: Palm Springs State: CA Zip: 92262
Telephone: (760) 808-6988

e-mail address: modpod one@yahoo.com

11. Required Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed application form. Do not mount any
exhibits on a board.

1. Attachment Sheets. Include all supplemental information based on application form
(above).

2. Maps: For Historic Districts, include a sketch map identifying the proposed districts
boundaries.

3. Photographs: Eight (8) sets of color photographs showing each elevation of the property
and its surroundings.
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4. Non-owner’s Notarized Signature: If the applicant is not the owner, a notarized affidavit
shall be provided (see following page).

5. Site Plan: One 1/8” to 1/4” scale drawing of the site, and eight reduction copies (8 %2 x
11 inches) The site plan shall show all of the following: Property boundaries, north arrow
and scale, all existing buildings, structures, mechanical equipment, landscape materials,
fences, walls, sidewalks, driveways, parking areas showing location of parking spaces,
and signs. Indicate the square footage and use of each building and the date(s) of
construction.

6. Public Hearing Labels: Three (3) sets of typed self-adhesive labels of all property
owners, lessees, and sub-lessees of record. The labels shall include the Assessor's parcel
number, owner's name and mailing address of each property with 400 feet from the
exterior limits of the subject property. Additionally, all Assessor Parcel Maps clearly
indicating the 400-foot radius and a certified letter from a title company licensed to conduct
business in Riverside County, California shall be submitted.

Note: If any property on this list is owned by the United States Government in trust for the
Agua Caliente Indian Tribe or individual allottee, copies of notices with postage paid
envelopes will be submitted to the Bureau of Indian Affairs to notify the individual Indian
land owners of the public hearings.
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Aerial View of J.W. Robinson Department Store Building (2011) (County of Riverside)
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Appendix I: Assessor’s Map
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Appendix II: Permit History (333-343 South Palm Canyon Drive)

Date Address Type/Number Owner Remarks
8/26/57 | 333 S. Pam Building/9961 J. W. Robinson | 14,500 sg. ft. at cost
Canyon (Pearl of $280,000
McManus)
9/5/57 333S. Pam Plumbing/10033 J. W. Robinson
Canyon
9/10/57 | 333 S. Pam Grading report J. W. Robinson | Pacific Materials
Canyon Laboratory
10/22/57 | 333 S. Pam Electric/8749 J. W. Robinson
Canyon
11/12/57 | 333 S. Pam Sewer/13 J. W. Robinson
Canyon
Various | 333 S. Pam Job Record Card J. W Robinson
Canyon
5/21/62 | 333 S. Pam Building/4491 J. W. Robinson | Repair roof
Canyon
7/24/72 | 333 S. Pam Building/4794 J. W. Robinson | Add 13,400 sq. ft. at
Canyon cost of $275,000
Coble & Wessman
Various | 333 S. Pam Job Record Card J. W. Robinson | Coble & Wessman
Canyon
7/31/72 | 333S. Pam Electric/5706 J. W. Robinson
Canyon
8/8/72 | 333S.Pam Plumbing/2309 J. W. Robinson
Canyon
8/11/72 | 333S. Pam Concrete J. W. Robinson | So. Cdlifornia
Canyon compression test Testing Laboratories
Arthur Pereira AIA
Coble & Wessman
8/15/72 | 333 S. Pam Concrete J. W. Robinson | So. California
Canyon compression test Testing Laboratories
Wm. Pereira AIA
Coble & Wessman
8/22/72 | 333 S. Pam Electric/5771 J. W. Robinson
Canyon
9/28/72 | 333 S. Pam Building/5166 J. W. Robinson | Interior partitions
Canyon
12/8/72 | 333 S. Pam Temporary J. W. Robinson
Canyon Certificate of
Occupancy
12/27/77 | 333 S. PaAm Building/1958 J. W. Robinson | Remodel interior
Canyon Spencer & Reynolds
1/5/78 333S. Pam Plumbing/5939 J. W. Robinson

Canyon
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1/5/78 (Infile) Sewer/6327 (not indicated)
1/5/78 333S. Pam Electric/608 J. W. Robinson
Canyon
11/9/79 | 333 S. Pam Building/2011 J. W. Robinson | Job Record Card Re-
Canyon roof
7/23/90 | (Infile) Letter LaMirage Re-roof proposal
Interiors
[llegible | 333 S. Pam Building Application | LaMirage Demo store fixtures
Canyon Interiors
8/16/90 | 333 S. Pam Job Card/18775 LaMirage
Canyon Interiors
8/16/90 | 333 S. Pam Building LaMirage Re-roof
Canyon Interiors
9/10/92 | 333 S. Pam Sign/0254 Super Crown
Canyon
9/23/92 | 333 S. Pam Building/23608 Crown Books Non-structural demo
Canyon
[llegible | 333 S. Pam Building Application | Crown Books John Ash Group
Canyon Architects
12/4/92 | 333 S. Pam Insp. (not indicated)
Canyon Corrections/23667
12/11/92 | 333 S. Palm Building/24004 Super Crown Install signs
Canyon
3/24/93 | 333 S. Pam Building/24529 (not indicated) | Handicap
Canyon ramp/contractor
Eloulian & Elloulian
(sic)
4/1/93 333S. Pam Building/24576 Crown Books Parking lot lighting
Canyon
4/12/93 | 333 S. Pam Certificate of Crown Books
Canyon Occupancy
4/19/93 | 333 S. Pam Insp. (not indicated)
Canyon Corrections/24567
12/14/93 | 343 S. Pam Building/26131 (not indicated) | Re-roof/contractor
Canyon Jerry Illovlian
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Appendix Ill: Charles Luckman Biography

The “boy wonder” of American business in the late 1930s and the 1940s, and then a
leader in the field of architecture, Charles Luckman—an only child—was born in
Kansas City, Missouri, in 1909. Following graduation from Kansas City’'s Northeast
High School in 1925, and a stint in a Kansas City junior college, he took a job as a
draftsman in an architect’s office in Chicago. He then enrolled in the University of
lllinois in 1927, where he graduated with a degree in architecture in 1931. There he
met his future architectural partner, William Pereira.

Lacking professional opportunities in architecture because of the Great Depression,
Luckman entered the business world, joining Colgate-Palmolive-Peet as a draftsman in
the advertising department in 1931. That same year he married Harriet McElroy (1908-
2003) (the couple’s three children were Charles, Jr.; James; and Steven). Luckman
then transferred to sales. He achieved impressive gains in the sales of his company’s
soap on Chicago’s South Side, which earned him a reputation as a superb salesman
and set the stage for a remarkable rise in the business world.

His progress at Colgate led to an offer from Pepsodent, which he joined as sales
manager in 1935. Luckman successfully promoted Pepsodent to customers
throughout the United States and claimed to know over 35,000 druggists by their first
names. Such effective salesmanship resulted in Luckman's rapid rise through the
Pepsodent hierarchy, becoming vice-president in charge of sales in 1936. In 1941,
Luckman was promoted to executive vice-president, and in 1943 came the crowning
achievement of the presidency. By that year Pepsodent had the largest sales of
dentrifice in the United States. His $100,000 per year salary was remarkable for that
time (he also held ten percent of Pepsodent’s stock).

TIME

RV .y —
< 5' AWy
§ - g AW a

Luckman on cover of June 10, 1946 issue of Time magazine

The next major step in Charles Luckman’s career occurred in 1944, when Lever
Brothers acquired Pepsodent for ten million dollars. Luckman continued as president
of Pepsodent and became a vice-president of Lever Brothers, which was the United
States branch of the international corporation Unilever. In 1946 he was named
president of Lever Brothers in the United States becoming the head executive of one
the country’s largest corporations, and one of the country's youngest head executives
as well. This feat earned him a place on a 1946 cover of Time magazine.
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Luckman was also involved in significant public service. He served on President Harry
Truman’s “President's Committee on Civil Rights,” which evaluated the state of human
rights in the United States (1947). Luckman chaired Truman’s “Citizens’ Food
Committee,” charged with conserving American grain supplies, so that the savings
could be used to feed desolate post-war Europe.

In a move that was headline news, Luckman resigned from Lever Brothers in 1950
after a meeting with the directors of Unilvever, the parent company. The exact reason
or reasons for his departure remain unclear, but Lever had failed to equal its rival
Proctor and Gamble in such areas as the marketing of synthetic detergents, and by
1949 Lever Brothers was in the red.

Luckman returned to his old profession, architecture, after his resignation, answering
the invitation of William Pereira, his fellow architecture student at Illinois. Luckman’s
renewed interest in architecture was stimulated in part by his instigating the building of
the Lever House, the corporate headquarters in New York City. The ground floor of the
twenty-six story tall skyscraper was open, with landscaping and fountains, an unusual
design for its time. That it was one of the first steel and glass skyscrapers added to its
novelty and perhaps stands as Luckman’'s greatest contribution to American
architecture.

Luckman & Pereira was highly successful, and among its many accomplishments were
the CBS Television City in Hollywood, the Hilton Hotel in Berlin, the Disneyland Hotel,
the “Theme Building” at Los Angeles International Airport, and United States military
bases in Spain.

In a disagreement over approaches regarding architectural and marketing practices,
Pereira and Luckman split in 1958. Luckman then formed Charles Luckman
Associates (CLA), which proved to be hugely successful. By 1968 the firm was one of
the country’s five largest, with offices in New York, Los Angeles, and Phoenix. Its
architectural accomplishments included the Madison Square Garden in New York,
Boston’s Prudential Center, NASA’'s manned flight center in Houston, and countless
projects in Los Angeles, including the Los Angeles Zoo and what is now Macy’s Plaza.
In 1968, Charles Luckman’s second son, James, became president of the firm, while
he became chair of the board. That same year CLA merged with Ogden Corporation, a
union that lasted until 1973.

Luckman had his architectural critics. Reflecting his strong business background, he
marketed his firm as one that would design projects to suit the client's tastes and
needs, rather than create designs based only on the vision of the architect. In honor of
this unusual approach to architecture, the American Management Association awarded
him its highest honor in 1982, the Henry Laurence Gantt Medal for “distinguished
achievement of management as a service to the community.”

Luckman’s public service was considerable. An active supporter of public education,
he served on the California State Board of Trustees from 1960 through 1982 and was
twice chair of the board. Notable during this tenure was his strong stand against the
campus unrest of the 1960s. He also established teaching awards at different
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universities. Besides this educational service, Luckman served as president of the Los
Angeles Ballet and as chair of the board of UCLA’s Brain Research Institute.

Luckman retired from Charles Luckman Associates in 1977, although he remained an
active presence there (the firm was later reorganized as the Luckman Partnership, with
son James as president). Charles Luckman died in 1999 in Los Angeles.

{Note: Much of the foregoing biography is courtesy of Loyola Marymount University (Los Angeles). LMU’s William
H. Hannon Library houses the Thomas and Dorothy Leavey Center for the Study of Los Angeles. As such, the
Hannon Library holds papers of many of Los Angeles’ public officials, real estate and industrial developers, and
prominent Roman Catholic families. Included in this collection are 96 archival boxes containing the “Charles
Luckman Papers, 1908-2000 (CSLA-34)"}
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Appendix IV: William Pereira Biography

William L. Pereira, was an architect and urban planner who designed the Transamerica
building in San Francisco and was the designer of the master-planned community of
Irvine, California. Throughout his career, Pereira brought to his designs a strong belief
in the integration of architecture and environment. The pyramidal Transamerica
building, for example, was designed to allow light onto the streets of a city that Pereira
believed was becoming crowded with "building-block™ skyscrapers.

His plan in the early 1960's for the community of Irvine called for the conversion of
93,000 acres of land in Orange County into a modernistic community of homes for
people in various income groups, hotels and theaters, and for the preservation of
30,000 acres of mountain wilderness for recreation. Some of his vision was realized,
although a booming real estate market later in the decade transformed Irvine into a
more ordinary, if unusually large, suburb.

In the early 1930's, Pereira began his architectural career by designing many theaters
around the United States for the movie chain of Balaban & Katz. The popularity of the
theater designs led him to a job designing a Hollywood studio for Paramount. His deep
research into the movie industry for the project led him to stray, for a time, into a variety
of projects in the film industry. In 1942 he shared an Oscar award with other special
effects experts for his work on Cecil B. DeMille's film, "Reap the Wild Wind." He was
also the producer, for RKO-Radio, of the mystery-melodrama "Johnny Angel," starring
George Raft, and the romance "From This Day Forward," starring Joan Fontaine.

Pereira on cover of September 6, 1963 issue of Time magazine

In 1949 he returned to architecture and, in 1950, established the architectural firm of
Pereira and Luckman with Charles Luckman. The firm flourished, quickly gaining a
reputation for the master-planning of building complexes. Among their designs were
those for the pilot plant of CBS Television City in Hollywood, the rocket-launching
installations at Cape Canaveral, the Los Angeles International Airport, jet bases in
California for major airplane manufacturers, and the Santa Barbara campus of the
University of California.

In 1958, he set up his own firm, William L. Pereira Associates, and in the following
years designed many major buildings in California, including the Hollywood Film
Museum and the monumental Los Angeles County Museum of Art. He had originally
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designed a pyramidal skyscraper for the ABC headquarters in Manhattan, but that
building was never realized. His design for the 48-story Transamerica building was
initially controversial - some called it a "dunce cap" - but the building, built in 1973,
quickly became a trademark of San Francisco's skyline.

Pereira also designed many buildings for colleges and universities around the country,
including the campuses of the University of Missouri, Occidental College in Los
Angeles, Pepperdine University and Brigham Young.

William Pereira died in 1985 in Los Angeles at the age of 76.

{Note: The foregoing biography is derived from two sources, Pereira’s obituary, entitled “William L. Pereira,
Architect; A Specialist in Planned Cities,” by Douglas C. McGill which appeared in the November 15, 1985 edition of
the New York Times, and William Pereira published by the USC Architectural Guild}

HSPB
Original 06.12.12 (Rev. #2 of 10.17.12) 31



Appendix V: Photographic Documentation of Building and Site

Figure 1: North elevation (2012)

Figure 2: East elevation (2012)
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Figure 3: East elevation (southeast corner) (2012)

Figure 4: South elevation (southeast corner) (2012)
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Figure 5: West elevation (northwest corner) (2012)

Figure 6: West elevation (southwest corner) (2012)
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Figure 7: The northeast corner of the building still exhibits much of the “transparency’
intended by its designers (2012)

Figure 8: Interior photograph showing ceiling air-conditioning plenums (1958)
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Figure 9: Load-bearing 4-inch “finned” steel pipe columns and harlequin-patterned
facing tiles (2012)
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Appendix VI: Miscellaneous Documentation
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Figure 1: The first Robinson’s Store in Los Angeles

Figure 2: The boutique Robinson’s in Palm Springs “on the grounds of the Desert Inn”
(1948)
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Figure 3: Liberace waiting outside the Palm Springs Robinson’s on opening day (from
February 1958 Palm Springs Villager magazine)
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Figure 4: Robinson’s advertisement (from February 1958 Palm Springs Villager
magazine)
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